

Some classes of singular ODEs flows

Marc Briane

▶ To cite this version:

Marc Briane. Some classes of singular ODEs flows. 2024. hal-04466222v3

HAL Id: hal-04466222 https://hal.science/hal-04466222v3

Preprint submitted on 6 May 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Some classes of singular ODEs flows

Marc Briane*

May 6, 2024

Contents

Intr	roduction	2
1.1	Notations	3
1.2	Some recalls of ergodic theory	4
	1.2.1 Invariant measures and rotation sets	
	1.2.2 Herman's rotation set in dimension two	5
A c	lass involving some change of sign	6
2.1	A general two-dimensional result	6
2.2	A class of two-dimensional singular flows	8
2.3	An extension to dimension three	10
2.4	Examples	11
	2.4.1 Gradient flows in any dimension	11
	2.4.2 A modified nonlinear pendulum	11
	2.4.3 A two-dimensional Euler flow	11
A c	lass involving some gradient fields	12
3.1	The main result	12
3.2	Examples	14
	3.2.1 Gradient flows in any dimension	14
	3.2.2 A two-dimensional class of singular flows	
	1.1 1.2 A c 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4	1.2 Some recalls of ergodic theory 1.2.1 Invariant measures and rotation sets 1.2.2 Herman's rotation set in dimension two A class involving some change of sign 2.1 A general two-dimensional result 2.2 A class of two-dimensional singular flows 2.3 An extension to dimension three 2.4 Examples 2.4.1 Gradient flows in any dimension 2.4.2 A modified nonlinear pendulum 2.4.3 A two-dimensional Euler flow A class involving some gradient fields 3.1 The main result 3.2 Examples 3.2.1 Gradient flows in any dimension

Abstract

This paper is devoted to some singular ODEs flows $X(\cdot,x)$ for x in the d-dimensional torus \mathbb{T}^d , solutions to $\partial_t X(t,x) = b(X(t,x))$, with the initial condition X(0,x) = x. On the one hand, in dimension two assuming that the Herman rotation set for the flow X is parallel to some integer vector $k \neq 0_{\mathbb{R}^2}$, and that the component $b(x) \cdot k^{\perp}$ is dominated by a function only depending on $x \cdot k^{\perp}$ and changing sign, we prove that the flow X cannot have any invariant probability measure with positive Lebesgue density. As a by-product, if the vector field b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 , the flow X is shown to be not integrable through a real-analytic first integral, i.e. it is devoid of any real-analytic first integral with a periodic

 $[*]Univ\ Rennes,\ INSA\ Rennes,\ CNRS,\ IRMAR-UMR\ 6625,\ F-35000\ Rennes,\ France-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbriane@insa-rennes.france-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewate-mbrianewat$

gradient. This result is illustrated by an explicit class of singular flows which contains in particular some two-dimensional Euler flows. We also extend this class in dimension three restricting ourselves to the singular invariant measures. On the other hand, we consider a vector field b satisfying the non-negativity condition $b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) \geq 0$ in \mathbb{T}^d but not identically null, for some periodic gradient field ∇u . Then, the flow associated with b turns out to have only singular singular invariant probability measures in any dimension $d \geq 2$. Moreover, the flow is not integrable in dimension two if b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 . This class is illustrated by rather general examples.

Keywords: ODEs flow, rotation set, invariant measure, first integral

Mathematics Subject Classification: 34E05, 34E10, 37C10, 37C40

1 Introduction

In this paper we study some ODEs flows associated with a regular vector field b defined in the torus \mathbb{T}^d , solutions to

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t X(t,x) = b(X(t,x)), & t \in [0,\infty) \\ X(0,x) = x \in \mathbb{T}^d. \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

A flow X will be said singular if it has one or both of the following properties:

- 1. The flow X admits only invariant probability measures on \mathbb{T}^d (1) which are singular with respect to Lebesgue's measure. For example, consider the Stepanoff flow [15] associated with the vector field defined by $b(x) := \rho(x) \xi$, where ρ is a non-negative function in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ with a finite number of roots in \mathbb{T}^d and $\sigma := 1/\rho \in L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ and where $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$ has incommensurable coordinates. By virtue of [4, Pro. 5.1]) $\sigma(x)/\overline{\sigma} dx$ is the unique invariant probability measure for this flow which is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue's measure. In contrast, if the function ρ changes sign and has a (at most) countable zero set $\{\rho=0\}$, then by virtue of [5, Pro. 2.1] any invariant probability measure on \mathbb{T}^d has support in $\{\rho=0\}$, and is thus singular with respect to Lebesgue's measure.
- 2. The flow X has no regular first integral u (2) with a \mathbb{Z}^d -periodic gradient. From now one, such a flow will be said not integrable. For example, the so-called ABC flow (Arnold-Beltrami-Childress) introduced by Arnold [1] was shown by Ziglin [17, 18] to be not integrable through a real-analytic first integral when A = B.

In view of the previous (apparently) simple examples the singular properties of some given flow are difficult to derive. So, the dynamical systems of classical mechanics (see, e.g. [8, §2.2]) have a smooth invariant probability measure (with a constant density for the Hamiltonian systems) by virtue of Liouville's theorem [8, Thm. 1, §2.2] (see also [3, Pro. 2.2]). In the present case, we need thus to prove that any invariant probability measure μ on \mathbb{T}^d for the flow (1.1) associated with some vector field b, i.e. solution to the PDE

$$\operatorname{div}(\mu \, b) = 0 \ \text{in } \mathbb{T}^d \tag{1.2}$$

¹ i.e. the probability measures μ on \mathbb{T}^d such that $\mu \circ X^{-1}(t,\cdot) = \mu \circ X(-t,\cdot) = \mu$ for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

²i.e. a regular (possibly real-analytic) function u satisfying $u(X(\cdot,x)) = u(x)$ for any $x \in \mathbb{T}^d$.

(see below for an equivalent variational formulation (1.10)), is actually singular with respect to the Lebesgue measure. However, such a solution μ is far to be explicit, which makes the problem quite intricate.

Our aim is to provide different classes of ODEs flows which have only singular invariant probability measures on \mathbb{T}^d for d=2,3, and which are possibly not integrable. First, in Section 2 we prove a general two-dimensional result for a flow (1.1) (see Theorem 2.1) the assumptions of which combine the structure of the vector field b and the one of the Herman rotation set C_b (see definition (1.14) below) induced by b. More precisely, we assume that the set C_b — which by virtue of the Franks-Misiurewicz theorem (see Theorem 1.1) is known to a closed line segment along a line passing through $0_{\mathbb{R}^2}$ — is contained in the line $\mathbb{R} k$ for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0_{\mathbb{R}^2}\}$. We also assume that the vector field b satisfies the representation

$$\forall x \in \mathbb{T}^2, \quad b(x) \cdot k^{\perp} = \alpha(x \cdot k^{\perp}) + \beta(x),$$
with
$$\max_{x \in \mathbb{T}^2} \left| \alpha(x \cdot k^{\perp}) \right| > \max_{\mathbb{T}^2} |\beta|.$$
(1.3)

In other words, (1.3) means that the component $b(x) \cdot k^{\perp}$ is dominated by a function which only depends on the variable $x \cdot k^{\perp}$ and which changes sign. Then, the flow associated with b has no regular invariant probability measure of the type $\sigma(x) dx$, where σ is a positive (in the broad sense of (2.3)) function in $L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$. If in addition the vector field does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 , then the flow has no real-analytic first integral u such that ∇u is \mathbb{Z}^2 -periodic. Such a class is illustrated by the flows of Proposition 2.4 (in which $x \cdot k^{\perp} = x_1$) which satisfy the two previous conditions. In particular, this class contains the two-dimensional parametrized Euler flows (see § 2.4.3). Next, we extend the two-dimensional class of singular flows to dimension three through Proposition 2.7, except for the question of non-integrability which is more delicate in dimension three. Finally, the results of Section 2 are illustrated by various examples in § 2.4.

Alternatively, in Section 3 we show (see Theorem 3.1) that if the vector field b in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$ satisfies the non-negativity condition

$$b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) \ge 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{T}^d, \text{ but not identically null,}$$
 (1.4)

for some periodic gradient field $\nabla u \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$, then the flow (1.1) associated with b has only singular invariant probability measures in any dimension $d \geq 2$. Moreover, the flow is not integrable in dimension two if b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 . This result is illustrated by the class of gradient flows of § 3.2.1 in any dimension, and by the class of two-dimensional flows of § 3.2.2 which is not restricted to gradient flows.

1.1 Notations

- (e_1, \ldots, e_d) is the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^d , and $0_{\mathbb{R}^d}$ is the null vector of \mathbb{R}^d .
- I_d is the unit matrix of $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$, and $R_{\perp} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.
- A^T denotes the transposed matrix of $A \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$, and $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}_s$ denotes the subspace of the symmetric matrices in $\mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$.
- tr A denotes the trace and det A denotes the determinant of the matrix $A \in \mathbb{R}^{d \times d}$.

- For $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, we denote $\xi^{\perp} := R_{\perp} \xi = (-\xi_2, \xi_1)$.
- " \cdot " denotes the scalar product and $|\cdot|$ the euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^d .
- \mathbb{T}^d denotes the d-dimensional torus $\mathbb{R}^d/\mathbb{Z}^d$ for $d \in \mathbb{N}$.
- dx denotes the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^d and on \mathbb{T}^d .
- $\mathscr{M}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ denotes the set of Radon measures on the torus \mathbb{T}^d , and $\mathscr{M}_{p}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ denotes the set of probability measures on \mathbb{T}^d .
- $C^k_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$, respectively $W^{1,k}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$, $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$, denotes the space of the real-valued functions $f \in C^k(\mathbb{R}^d)$, respectively $f \in W^{1,k}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, which are \mathbb{Z}^d -periodic, *i.e.*

$$\forall k \in \mathbb{Z}^d, \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \quad f(x+k) = f(x). \tag{1.5}$$

• The curl of a vector field Φ in \mathbb{R}^d , d=2,3, is defined by

$$\nabla \times \Phi := \partial_{x_1} \Phi_2 - \partial_{x_2} \Phi_1 \text{ if } d = 2 \text{ and } \nabla \times \Phi := \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{x_2} \Phi_3 - \partial_{x_3} \Phi_2 \\ \partial_{x_3} \Phi_1 - \partial_{x_1} \Phi_3 \\ \partial_{x_1} \Phi_2 - \partial_{x_2} \Phi_1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ if } d = 3.$$

• For any function $f \in L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$, we denote

$$\begin{cases}
\bar{f}^{x'}(x_1) := \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d-1}} f(x_1, x') \, dx', \ x_1 \in \mathbb{T}^1 \\
\bar{f}^{x_1}(x') := \int_{\mathbb{T}^1} f(x_1, x') \, dx_1, \quad x' = (x_2, \dots, x_d) \in \mathbb{T}^{d-1},
\end{cases} \qquad \bar{f} := \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} f(x) \, dx. \tag{1.6}$$

For any Borel measure μ on \mathbb{T}^d and any function $f \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^d, \mu)$, we denote

$$\mu(f) := \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} f(x) \,\mu(dx) \tag{1.7}$$

which is also extended to vector-valued functions in $L^1(\mathbb{T}^d,\mu)^d$.

- For two functions f, g defined on a non-empty set E, " $f \not\equiv g$ " means that f and g are not identically equal in E.
- \bullet C denotes a positive constant which may vary from line to line.

1.2 Some recalls of ergodic theory

1.2.1 Invariant measures and rotation sets

Let b a vector field in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$. A probability measure μ in $\mathscr{M}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ is said to be invariant for the flow X associated with the vector field b by (1.1), if one has

$$\forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall \psi \in C^0_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d), \quad \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \psi(X(t,y)) \, d\mu(y) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \psi(y) \, d\mu(y). \tag{1.8}$$

By virtue of Liouville's theorem (see, e.g., [8, Thm. 1, $\S 2.2$]) condition (1.8) means that

$$\operatorname{div}(b\,\mu) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^d, \tag{1.9}$$

or equivalently, with the variational formulation (see, e.g., [4, Pro. 2.2])

$$\forall \varphi \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d), \quad \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} b(x) \cdot \nabla \varphi(x) \, \mu(dx) = 0. \tag{1.10}$$

Alternatively, define the set

$$\mathscr{I}_b := \left\{ \mu \in \mathscr{M}_p(\mathbb{T}^2) : \mu \text{ invariant for the flow } X \right\}, \tag{1.11}$$

where $\mathscr{M}_p(\mathbb{T}^d)$ is the set of probability measures on \mathbb{T}^d . Also define the two following non-empty subsets of \mathbb{R}^d :

• The set of all the limit points of the sequences $(X(n,x)/n)_{n\geq 1}$ for $x\in \mathbb{T}^d$ (denoted by $\rho_p(b)$ in [13])

$$\mathsf{A}_b := \bigcup_{x \in \mathbb{T}^2} \left[\bigcap_{n \ge 1} \overline{\left\{ \frac{X(k, x)}{k} : k \ge n \right\}} \right]. \tag{1.12}$$

If b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 , by virtue of the Peirone result [14, Thm. 3.1] the former definition is reduced to

$$\mathsf{A}_b = \left\{ \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{X(t, x)}{t} : x \in \mathbb{T}^d \right\}. \tag{1.13}$$

• The so-called Herman [11] rotation set (recall notation (1.7))

$$\mathsf{C}_b := \{ \mu(b) : \mu \in \mathscr{I}_b \} \tag{1.14}$$

which is a compact convex subset of \mathbb{R}^d .

An implicit consequence of the Misiurewicz-Ziemian results [13, Thm. 2.4, Rem. 2.5] and [13, Cor. 2.6] shows that

$$\mathsf{A}_b \subset \mathsf{C}_b = \operatorname{conv}\left(\mathsf{A}_b\right). \tag{1.15}$$

1.2.2 Herman's rotation set in dimension two

In dimension two [13, Thm. 3.4 (c)] shows that actually the set A_b (1.12) is a convex set of \mathbb{R}^2 , which thus implies that

$$\mathsf{C}_b = \mathsf{A}_b. \tag{1.16}$$

If in addition b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 , we thus deduce from (1.13) that

$$\mathsf{C}_b = \left\{ \mu(b) : \mu \in \mathscr{I}_b \right\} = \left\{ \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{X(t, x)}{t} : x \in \mathbb{T}^2 \right\} = \mathsf{A}_b. \tag{1.17}$$

This connects closely the invariant probability measures for the flow X (1.1) and the limit points of the flow. Moreover, Herman's rotation set satisfies the celebrated Franks-Misiurewicz ergodic theorem [9] (which actually extends to any continuous flow).

Theorem 1.1 (Franks-Misiurewicz, 1990). Let b be a vector field in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)^2$. Then, there exists a vector $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2$ such that the Herman rotation set satisfies $C_b \subset \mathbb{R} \xi$. More precisely, one of the three following mutually disjoint cases holds:

- (i) C_b is a unit set.
- (ii) C_b is a closed line segment of a line passing trough $0_{\mathbb{R}^2}$, and some another point of \mathbb{Q}^2 .
- (iii) C_b is a closed line segment with one end at $0_{\mathbb{R}^2}$, and an irrational slope.

2 A class involving some change of sign

2.1 A general two-dimensional result

We have the following result which allows us to exhibit singular two-dimensional ODEs flows.

Theorem 2.1. Let b be a vector field in $C^1_t(\mathbb{T}^2)^2$ such that the Herman set C_b reads as

$$\mathsf{C}_b = I \, k$$
, where I is a closed segment of $(0, \infty)$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0_{\mathbb{R}^2}\}$. (2.1)

Assume that there exist two functions $\alpha \in C^0_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^1)$ and $\beta \in C^0_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ such that

$$\forall x \in \mathbb{T}^2, \quad b(x) \cdot k^{\perp} = \alpha(x \cdot k^{\perp}) + \beta(x),$$

$$with \quad \max_{x \in \mathbb{T}^2} \left| \alpha(x \cdot k^{\perp}) \right| > \max_{\mathbb{T}^2} |\beta|.$$
(2.2)

Then, for any function $\sigma \in L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ the sections of which satisfy the positivity property

for any closed line segment
$$S \subset \mathbb{R}^2$$
, $\int_S \sigma > 0$ a.e. in T , (2.3)

where T is any closed line segment orthogonal to S from some end point of S (so that $S \times T$ is a closed rectangle of \mathbb{R}^2), the probability measure $\sigma(x)/\overline{\sigma}\,dx$ cannot be invariant for the flow (1.1) associated with the vector field b.

Moreover, restricting ourselves to dimension two, if the vector field b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 , there does not exist any real-analytic first integral for the flow with a \mathbb{Z}^2 -periodic gradient.

Remark 2.2. In view of the Franks-Misiurewicz theorem, the assumption (2.1) of Theorem 2.1 corresponds in the statement of Theorem 1.1, either to the case (i) when C_b is reduced to a commensurable vector in $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0_{\mathbb{R}^2}\}$, or to the case (ii).

Remark 2.3. It is not a priori evident to provide explicitly a vector field b satisfying the assumptions of Theorem 2.1. Indeed, the same integer vector k has to satisfy both condition (2.2) and the equality set $C_b = I k$. The representation of the Herman rotation set C_b (1.14) cannot be simply deduced from the data of the vector field b. However, in § 2.2 we provide a class of suitable vector fields b illustrating the theoretical result of Theorem 2.1.

Proof of Theorem 2.1. Let b be a vector field in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)^2$ satisfying the condition (2.1) with some $k \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{0_{\mathbb{R}^2}\}$. Assume by contradiction that there exists an invariant probability measure for the flow (1.1), i.e. of the type $\sigma(x) dx$ where σ is in $L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ and satisfies the positivity property (2.3). By Liouville's theorem combined with the representation of the divergence free vector fields in \mathbb{R}^2 , there exists a current field $\varphi \in W^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ with $\nabla \varphi \in L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)^2$, such that

$$\sigma b = \nabla^{\perp} \varphi = (\nabla \varphi)^{\perp}$$
 in \mathbb{T}^2 .

Making the change of variables

$$x = Ky$$
 where $K := \frac{1}{|k|} \begin{pmatrix} -k_2 & -k_1 \\ k_1 & -k_2 \end{pmatrix} = (K^T)^{-1},$ (2.4)

which implies that $K^T k = -|k| e_2$ and $K^T k^{\perp} = |k| e_1$. Then, using (2.2) we get that for a.e. y in the quotient group $\mathbb{R}^2/(K^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^2)$,

$$\sigma(Ky) b(Ky) \cdot k^{\perp} = \sigma(Ky) \alpha(|k| y_1) + \sigma(Ky) \beta(Ky) = \nabla^{\perp} \varphi(Ky) \cdot k^{\perp} = \nabla \varphi(Ky) \cdot k. \quad (2.5)$$

Moreover, by (2.1) we have $\overline{\sigma} \, \overline{b} \cdot k^{\perp} = 0$. Taking the mean value of (2.5) this yields $\overline{\nabla \varphi(K \cdot)} \cdot k = 0$. Hence, defining the function $\varphi_{\sharp} : (x \mapsto \varphi(x) - \overline{\nabla \varphi} \cdot x)$ which belongs to $W^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$, we deduce that

$$\nabla \varphi_{\sharp} \cdot k = \nabla \varphi \cdot k - \overline{\nabla \varphi} \cdot k = \nabla \varphi \cdot k.$$

Putting this in (2.5) and recalling $K^T k = -|k| e_2$, we get that

$$\alpha(|k| y_1) + \sigma(Ky) \beta(Ky) = \nabla^{\perp} \varphi_{\sharp}(Ky) \cdot k^{\perp} = K \nabla(\varphi_{\sharp}(Ky)) \cdot k$$

= $-|k| \nabla(\varphi_{\sharp}(Ky)) \cdot e_2 = -|k| \partial_{y_2}(\varphi_{\sharp}(Ky)).$ (2.6)

Now, integrating (2.6) with respect to $y_2 \in \mathbb{R}/(k/|k| \cdot \mathbb{Z}^2)$ (due to (2.4)) and taking into account the periodicity of φ_{\sharp} , we obtain that (recall notation (1.6))

$$\overline{\sigma(K\cdot)}^{y_2}(y_1)\,\alpha(|k|\,y_1) + \overline{\sigma(K\cdot)\,\beta(K\cdot)}^{y_2}(y_1) = 0 \quad \text{for } y_1 \in \mathbb{R}/(k^\perp/|k|\cdot\mathbb{Z}^2),$$

which combined with the positivity property (2.3) of σ , implies that

$$\max_{x \in \mathbb{T}^2} \left| \alpha(x \cdot k^{\perp}) \right| = \max_{y_1 \in \mathbb{R}/(k^{\perp}/|k| \cdot \mathbb{Z}^2)} \left| \alpha(|k| y_1) \right| \\
\leq \max_{y_1 \in \mathbb{R}/(k^{\perp}/|k| \cdot \mathbb{Z}^2)} \frac{\left| \overline{\sigma(K \cdot) \beta(K \cdot)}^{y_2}(y_1) \right|}{\left| \overline{\sigma(K \cdot)}^{y_2}(y_1) \right|} \leq \max_{\mathbb{T}^2} |\beta|.$$

This contradicts the strict inequality of (2.2) and concludes the first part of the proof.

Next, assume that there exists a real-analytic first integral u for the flow, such that the gradient field ∇u is \mathbb{Z}^2 -periodic and has a finite number of roots in \mathbb{T}^2 . Hence, taking the time derivative in u(X(t,x)) = u(x), we get that

$$\forall x \in \mathbb{T}^2, \ \forall t \in [0, \infty), \quad \nabla u(X(t, x)) \cdot b(X(t, x)) = 0,$$

and thus for t=0, $\nabla u \cdot b=0$ in \mathbb{T}^2 . Now, if the vector field b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 , there exists a function $\sigma \in C^0_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ such that $\nabla^{\perp} u = \sigma b$ in \mathbb{T}^2 . So, the continuous function σ does not vanish in $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{\nabla u = 0\}$ which by assumption is a connected open set of \mathbb{R}^2 . It follows that σ has a constant sign, say positive, in $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{\nabla u = 0\}$. This combined with the continuity of σ yields the positivity property (2.3), which thus contradicts the first part of Theorem 2.1. Therefore, the gradient field ∇u admits at least a cluster point in \mathbb{T}^2 , so that u cannot be real-analytic.

The proof of Theorem 2.1 is thus done.

2.2 A class of two-dimensional singular flows

We have the following result.

Proposition 2.4. Let $b \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)^2$ and let $\alpha, \beta \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ be such that the first coordinate of b reads as

$$b_1(x) = \alpha(x_1) + \beta(x) \text{ for } x \in \mathbb{T}^2,$$

$$with \quad B := \max_{\mathbb{T}^2} |\beta| < \min\left(-\min_{\mathbb{T}^1} \alpha, \max_{\mathbb{T}^1} \alpha\right).$$
(2.7)

Then, the two-dimensional flow (1.1) is singular in the sense of Theorem 2.1.

Remark 2.5. It is easy to check that condition (2.7) already prevents Lebesgue's measure from being invariant for the flow associated with the vector field b satisfying (2.7). Indeed, let $p_1, q_1 \in \mathbb{T}^1$ be such that

$$\min_{\mathbb{T}^1} \alpha = \alpha(p_1) < 0 \text{ and } \max_{\mathbb{T}^1} \alpha = \alpha(q_1) > 0.$$

Then, we deduce from the inequality of (2.7) that

$$\int_{p_1}^{q_1} \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^1} (\operatorname{div} b)(x_1, x_2) \, dx_2 \right) dx_1 = \underbrace{\left(\alpha + \overline{\beta}^{x_2} \right)(q_1)}_{>0} - \underbrace{\left(\alpha + \overline{\beta}^{x_2} \right)(p_1)}_{<0} > 0.$$

Therefore, the vector field b of (2.7) cannot be divergence free in \mathbb{T}^2 .

Proof of Proposition 2.4. Let us start to prove that for any $x^0 = (x_1^0, x_2^0)$ in \mathbb{T}^2 , the first coordinate $x_1 := x_1(\cdot, x^0)$ of the flow $X := X(\cdot, x^0)$ (1.1) associated with b, is bounded in $[0, \infty)$. Due to the strict inequality of (2.7) there exists a point $p_1 \in \mathbb{T}^1$ such that $\alpha(x_1^0) \neq \alpha(p_1) < -B$. Hence, we have

$$x_1' - \alpha(x_1) = b_1(X) - \alpha(x_1) = \beta(X) \le B < -\alpha(p_1) \ne -\alpha(x_1^0)$$
 in $[0, \infty)$.

Then, applying the first inequality (2.10) of Lemma 2.6 below to the function x_1 choosing $f := -\alpha$ and $x_0 := p_1$, we get that

$$x_1 - x_1^0 = x_1 - x_1(0) < 1$$
 in $[0, \infty)$.

Similarly, let q_1 be a point in \mathbb{T}^1 such that $\alpha(x_1^0) \neq \alpha(q_1) > B$. Then, we have

$$x_1' - \alpha(x_1) = b_1(X) - \alpha(x_1) = \beta(X) \ge -B > -\alpha(q_1) \ne -\alpha(x_1^0)$$
 in $[0, \infty)$.

Now, applying the second inequality (2.10) of Lemma 2.6 below to the function x_1 choosing $f := -\alpha$ and $x_0 := q_1$, we get that

$$x_1 - x_1^0 = x_1 - x_1(0) > -1$$
 in $[0, \infty)$.

Collecting the two inequalities satisfied by x_1 , we obtain the estimate

$$\left| x_1(\cdot, x^0) - x_1^0 \right| < 1 \quad \text{in } [0, \infty).$$
 (2.8)

Next, let us prove that the Herman rotation set satisfies

$$\mathsf{C}_b \subset \mathbb{R} \, e_2.$$
 (2.9)

Let $\mu(b) \in C_b$ be associated with an invariant probability measure μ on \mathbb{T}^2 . Using successively the invariance property and Fubini's theorem we have for any t > 0,

$$\mu(b) \cdot e_1 = \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} b_1(x) \, \mu(dx) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} b_1(X(s, x)) \, \mu(dx) \right) ds$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \left(\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t b_1(X(s, x)) \, ds \right) \mu(dx) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \frac{x_1(t, x) - x_1}{t} \, \mu(dx)$$

Moreover, taking into account the bound (2.8) Lebesgue's theorem implies that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \frac{x_1(t, x) - x_1}{t} \, \mu(dx) = 0,$$

which proves the inclusion (2.9).

Finally, choosing the integer vector $k := -e_2$, or equivalently $k^{\perp} = e_1$, we get that the expression of b_1 in (2.7) agrees with the expression of $b \cdot k^{\perp}$ in (2.2). Moreover, it is clear that the inequality satisfied by B in (2.7) implies the inequality in (2.2). Therefore, the vector field b under the assumption (2.7) satisfies the conditions of Theorem 2.1.

We have just proved that the flow associated with any vector field b characterized by the condition (2.7) is singular in the sense of Theorem 2.1.

Lemma 2.6. Let f be a function in $W^{1,\infty}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{R}/T\mathbb{Z})$, T>0 (i.e. f is Lipschitz and periodic of period T in \mathbb{R}), let $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, and let x be a function in $C^1([0,\infty))$ such that $f(x(0)) \neq f(x_0)$. Then, we have the two following implications:

$$\begin{cases} x' + f(x) < f(x_0) & \text{in } [0, \infty) \Rightarrow x - x(0) < T & \text{in } [0, \infty), \\ x' + f(x) > f(x_0) & \text{in } [0, \infty) \Rightarrow x - x(0) > -T & \text{in } [0, \infty), \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

where $f(x) := f \circ x$.

The proof of Lemma 2.6 is given in [2, Lem. 2.5].

2.3 An extension to dimension three

The two dimensional Proposition 2.4 can be extended partially in dimension three as follows.

Proposition 2.7. Let $b \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^3)^3$ and let $\alpha, \beta \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^3)$ be such that the first coordinate of b reads as

$$b_1(x) = \alpha(x_1) + \beta(x) \text{ for } x \in \mathbb{T}^3,$$
with $B := \max_{\mathbb{T}^3} |\beta| < \min\left(-\min_{\mathbb{T}^1} \alpha, \max_{\mathbb{T}^1} \alpha\right).$ (2.11)

Then, for any non-negative function σ in $L^1_{t}(\mathbb{T}^3)$ satisfying the weak positivity property

$$\overline{\sigma}^{x'}(x_1) := \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \sigma(x_1, x') \, dx' > 0 \quad a.e. \ x_1 \in \mathbb{T}^1, \tag{2.12}$$

the probability measure $\sigma(x)/\overline{\sigma} dx$ cannot be invariant for the flow (1.1) associated with b.

Proof of Proposition 2.7. First of all, using condition (2.11) and proceeding similarly to the proof Proposition 2.4 with Lemma 2.6, we get that for any $x^0 \in \mathbb{T}^3$, the first coordinate $x_1(\cdot, x^0)$ of the flow (1.1) is bounded in $[0, \infty)$. Hence, it follows immediately that

$$\forall x \in \mathbb{T}^3, \quad \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{x_1(t, x)}{t} = 0, \tag{2.13}$$

which by (1.12) and (1.15) implies that

$$\mathsf{C}_b \subset (\mathbb{R}\,e_2 + \mathbb{R}\,e_3). \tag{2.14}$$

Now, assume by contradiction that there exists an invariant probability measure for the flow (1.1) of the type $\sigma(x) dx$, where σ is in $L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^3)$ and satisfies the positivity property (2.3). By Liouville's theorem combined with the representation of a three-dimensional divergence free field (see, e.g., [10, Thm. 3.4 & 3.5]) there exists a periodic current field $\varphi = (\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \varphi_3) \in W^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^3)^3$ such that

$$\sigma b = \overline{\sigma b} + \nabla \times \varphi \text{ in } \mathbb{T}^3.$$

Moreover, by (2.14) we have $\overline{\sigma b} \cdot e_1 = 0$. Hence, the representation (2.11) of b_1 yields

$$\sigma(x) b_1(x) = \sigma(x) \alpha(x_1) + \sigma(x) \beta(x) = \partial_{x_2} \varphi_3(x) - \partial_{x_3} \varphi_2(x) \quad \text{a.e. } x \in \mathbb{T}^3.$$
 (2.15)

Therefore, integrating the former equality with respect to $x' = (x_2, x_3)$ and taking into account the periodicity of the functions φ_2 and φ_3 , we obtain that (recall notation (1.6))

$$\overline{\sigma}^{x'}(x_1) \alpha(x_1) + \overline{\sigma} \overline{\beta}^{x'}(x_1) = 0$$
 a.e. $x_1 \in \mathbb{T}^1$.

This combined with the positivity property (2.12) of σ leads us to

$$\max_{\mathbb{T}^1} |\alpha| \le \max_{\mathbb{T}^1} \left| \frac{\overline{\sigma \beta}^{x'}}{\overline{\sigma}^{x'}} \right| \le \max_{\mathbb{T}^3} |\beta|,$$

which contradicts the strict inequality of (2.11), and concludes the proof of Proposition 2.7.

2.4 Examples

2.4.1 Gradient flows in any dimension

Consider the flow (1.1) associated with the gradient field $b = \nabla u \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$, where the function u is "affine plus periodic", *i.e.* the function $(x \mapsto u(x) - \overline{\nabla u} \cdot x)$ is in $C^2_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$. Define the \mathbb{T}^{d-1} -mean value function $\bar{u}^{x'}$ of the function u by

$$\bar{u}^{x'}(x_1) := \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d-1}} u(x_1, x') \, dx' \quad \text{for } x_1 \in \mathbb{T}^1.$$

Then, assume that the function \bar{u} changes sign, and that the function u is sufficiently close to its mean value $\bar{u}^{x'}$ in the sense that

$$\max_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left| \partial_{x_1} (u - \bar{u}^{x'}) \right| < \frac{1}{2} \max_{\mathbb{T}^d} |\partial_{x_1} u|.$$

Therefore, due to the equality $b_1 = \partial_{x_1} u$, we easily deduce that the condition (2.11) is fulfilled by the functions $\alpha := \partial_{x_1} \bar{u}^{x'}$ and $\beta := \partial_{x_1} (u - \bar{u}^{x'})$.

The gradient fields of Section 3 below will be used in a completely different manner.

2.4.2 A modified nonlinear pendulum

In [12, §9.2, §9.4, §9.5] the dynamics of the ideal pendulum and of the one with constant forcing are investigated. Here, instead we consider the two-dimensional flow $X(\cdot, x) = (\omega, \theta)$ solution to the equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \omega(t, x) = \varphi(\omega(t, x)) - \sin(\theta(t, x)) \\ \partial_t \theta(t, x) = \psi(\omega(t, x)), \end{cases} \text{ with } (\omega(0, x), \theta(0, x)) = x \in \mathbb{T}^2,$$
 (2.16)

where θ denotes the angular position of the pendulum, $\psi(\omega)$ (rather than ω) denotes the angular velocity (which ensures the periodicity condition), and φ , ψ are two given functions in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^1)$. If the two following inequalities hold

$$\min_{\mathbb{T}^1} \varphi < -1 \ \text{ and } \ \max_{\mathbb{T}^1} \varphi > 1,$$

then the flow of the modified pendulum (2.16) is singular in the sense of Proposition 2.4.

2.4.3 A two-dimensional Euler flow

We consider the two-dimensional Euler flow $X(\cdot, x)$ for x in the torus $\mathbb{R}^2/(2\pi\mathbb{Z}^2)$, solution to the ODEs system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t x_1(t,x) = -A\cos(x_1(t,x)) - B\sin(x_2(t,x)) =: b_1(X(t,x)) \\ \partial_t x_2(t,x) = A\sin(x_1(t,x)) + B\cos(x_2(t,x)) =: b_2(X(t,x)), \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

where A, B are two fixed non-zero real parameters.

The vector field b defined by (2.17) represents the velocity solution to the steady Euler equation (see, e.g., [16])

$$\partial_t \omega + \psi_1 \,\omega_2 - \psi_2 \,\omega_1 = 0, \tag{2.18}$$

where the function ω denotes the (scalar) fluid vorticity, and ψ solution to $-\Delta \psi = \omega$, denotes the stream function. By definition (2.17) we have

$$\omega(x) = (\operatorname{curl} b)(x) = (\partial_{x_1} b_2 - \partial_{x_2} b_1)(x) = A \cos x_1 + B \cos x_2 \quad \text{and} \quad \psi(x) = \omega(x).$$

According to [16, 7] the study of the stability of the flow (2.17) on the torus is actually relevant for the atmospheric flows.

We have the three following alternatives (see [2, Thm. 2.1] for further details):

• If |A| > |B|, then the functions

$$b_1$$
, $(x \mapsto \alpha(x_1) := -A\cos x_1)$, $(x \mapsto \beta(x) := -B\sin x_2)$

of the flow (2.17) clearly satisfy condition (2.7). Therefore, the flow (2.17) is singular in the sense of Theorem 2.1, and $C_b \subset \mathbb{R} e_2$. More precisely, since the vector field b does not vanish in $\mathbb{R}^2/(2\pi\mathbb{Z}^2)$, the commensurable case of [14, Thm. 3.1] combined with (1.17) implies that $C_b = I_2 e_2$ where I_2 is a closed interval of $(0, \infty)$.

- If |A| < |B|, then permuting the roles of x_1 and x_2 , the flow (1.1) is singular in the sense of Theorem 2.1, and $C_b = I_1 e_1$ where I_1 is a closed interval of $(0, \infty)$.
- If |A| = |B|, then the ODEs system (2.17) is integrable according to [2, Thm. 2.1].

3 A class involving some gradient fields

3.1 The main result

We have the following class of singular flows which is based on gradient fields.

Theorem 3.1. Let b be a vector field in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$ such that there exists a gradient field ∇u in $C^0_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$ satisfying the non-negativity condition

$$\begin{cases} b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) \ge 0 \\ b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) \not\equiv 0 \end{cases} \quad in \, \mathbb{T}^d. \tag{3.1}$$

Then, for any non-negative function $\sigma \in L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ which satisfies the weak positivity property

for any non-empty open set
$$U$$
 of \mathbb{T}^d , $\int_U \sigma(x) dx > 0$, (3.2)

the probability measure $\sigma(x)/\overline{\sigma} dx$ cannot be invariant for the flow (1.1) associated b.

Moreover, restricting ourselves to dimension two, if the vector field b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 , there does not exist any real analytic-first integral for the flow with a \mathbb{Z}^2 -periodic gradient.

Remark 3.2. In dimension two the weak positivity on open sets (3.2) is finer than the weak positivity on closed line segments (2.3), and it is also finer than the almost-everywhere positivity on \mathbb{R}^2 . The last implication is clear. The first one is deduced by applying Fubini's theorem on any square U of \mathbb{R}^2 . Similarly, in dimension three the weak positivity on open sets (3.2) is finer than the weak positivity (2.12).

Remark 3.3. In Theorem 3.1 for a given vector field $b \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$, the non existence of a regular invariant probability measure on \mathbb{T}^d for the flow (1.1) having a Lebesgue density in $L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$, does not exclude the existence of a regular invariant measure $\sigma(x) dx$ with a positive density $\sigma \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, *i.e.* solution to $\operatorname{div}(\sigma b) = 0$ in \mathbb{R}^d by virtue of Liouville's theorem. So, by virtue of [6, Thm. 2.15] if b is a non vanishing gradient field in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$, such a positive density σ does exist but it is not periodic in general (see [6, Thm. 2.17] for a necessary and sufficient condition). For instance in [6, Exa. 2.12] the two-dimensional gradient field b defined by

$$b := \nabla u \text{ where } u(x) := x_1 - \cos(2\pi x_2) \text{ for } x = (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2,$$
 (3.3)

satisfies the condition (3.1) with the same gradient field, since

$$b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) = (e_1 + 2\pi \sin(2\pi x_2) e_2) \cdot 2\pi \sin(2\pi x_2) e_2 = 4\pi^2 \sin^2(2\pi x_2) \ge 0.$$

However, one gets the following explicit regular but non-periodic (with respect to the variable x_1) function

$$\sigma(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{1 + \tan^2(\pi x_2)}{e^{4\pi^2 x_1} + e^{-4\pi^2 x_1} \tan^2(\pi x_2)} & \text{if } x_2 \notin \frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z} \\ e^{4\pi^2 x_1} & \text{if } x_2 \in \frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

Proof of Theorem 3.1. Let b be a vector field in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$ satisfying (3.1) with some gradient field $\nabla u \in C^0_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)^d$. Assume by contradiction that there exists a non-negative function $\sigma \in L^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ satisfying (3.2) and div $(\sigma b) = 0$ in \mathbb{T}^d . Since the function $u_{\sharp} : (x \mapsto u(x) - \overline{\nabla u} \cdot x)$ belongs to $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$, the variational formulation (1.10) on \mathbb{T}^d yields

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \underbrace{b(x) \cdot (\nabla u(x) - \overline{\nabla u}) \, \sigma(x)}_{\geq 0} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} b(x) \cdot \nabla u_{\sharp}(x) \, \sigma(x) \, dx = 0,$$

which implies that

$$b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) \sigma = 0$$
 a.e. in \mathbb{T}^d .

Now, since $b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u})$ is continuous and not identically null in \mathbb{T}^d , there exists a non-empty open ball B of \mathbb{T}^d on which it is bounded from below by a constant c > 0. Hence, recalling the weak positivity property (3.2) satisfied by σ , it follows that

$$0 = \int_{B} b(x) \cdot (\nabla u(x) - \overline{\nabla u}) \, \sigma(x) \, dx \ge c \int_{B} \sigma(x) \, dx > 0,$$

which leads us to a contradiction.

In dimension two, assuming that the vector field b does not vanish in \mathbb{T}^2 , the proof of the absence of any first integral with smooth periodic gradient is quite similar to the one of Theorem 2.1. This concludes the proof of Theorem 3.1.

3.2 Examples

The first example provides a class of singular gradient flows in any dimension.

3.2.1 Gradient flows in any dimension

Let u be the "affine plus periodic" function defined by

$$u(x) := \xi \cdot x + \sum_{k=1}^{n} u_k^{\sharp}(M_k x) \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{T}^d,$$
(3.5)

where $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $M_k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d \times d}$ and $u_k^{\sharp} \in C^2_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ for $k = 1, \dots, n, n \in \mathbb{N}$,

and assume that

$$\forall k = 1, \dots, n, \quad M_k \, \xi = 0_{\mathbb{R}^d}. \tag{3.6}$$

Then, by (3.5) and noting that $\overline{\nabla u} = \xi$, we get that for any $x \in \mathbb{T}^d$,

$$b(x) \cdot (\nabla u(x) - \overline{\nabla u}) = \left(\xi + \sum_{k=1}^{n} M_k^T \nabla u_k^{\sharp}(M_k x)\right) \cdot \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} M_k^T \nabla u_k^{\sharp}(M_k x)\right)$$
$$= \left|\sum_{k=1}^{n} M_k^T \nabla u_k^{\sharp}(M_k x)\right|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \nabla u_k^{\sharp}(M_k x) \cdot M_k \xi$$
$$= \left|\sum_{k=1}^{n} M_k^T \nabla u_k^{\sharp}(M_k x)\right|^2 = |\nabla u(x) - \overline{\nabla u}|^2 \ge 0.$$

Therefore, if condition (3.6) is satisfied and the function u is not affine, the gradient field $b := \nabla u$ satisfies the non-negativity condition (3.1), so that the flow (1.1) associated with the gradient field b is singular in the sense of Theorem 3.1.

The next example provides a class of singular two-dimensional flows including gradient flows.

3.2.2 A two-dimensional class of singular flows

Let A be a symmetric positive definite matrix-valued function in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}_{s})$, let $\alpha \in C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ and let B be the matrix-valued function defined by (recall § 1.1)

$$B := R_{\perp} A - A R_{\perp} \in C^{1}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^{2}, \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}_{s}) \text{ which satisfies } \begin{cases} \operatorname{tr} B = 0 \\ \det B \leq 0 \end{cases} \text{ in } \mathbb{T}^{2}.$$
 (3.7)

Assume that

$$\det(2A + \alpha B) = 4 \det A + \alpha^2 \det B > 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^2. \tag{3.8}$$

Inequality (3.8) holds in particular for small enough $\max_{\mathbb{T}^2} |\alpha|$, since det A is bounded from below in \mathbb{T}^2 by a positive constant.

Let ∇u be a gradient field in $C^1_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^2)^2$. Then, we consider the vector field b defined by

$$b := A\nabla u + \alpha (A\nabla u)^{\perp} = A\nabla u + \alpha R_{\perp} A\nabla u \in C^{1}_{\sharp}(\mathbb{T}^{2})^{2}.$$
(3.9)

Using the definition (3.7) of B and that R_{\perp} is skew-symmetric, we have

$$b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) = (A\nabla u + \alpha R_{\perp} A \nabla u) \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u})$$

$$= (A + \alpha R_{\perp} A) \nabla u \cdot \nabla u - (A + \alpha R_{\perp} A) \nabla u \cdot \overline{\nabla u}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (2A + \alpha B) \nabla u \cdot \nabla u - (A - \alpha A R_{\perp}) \overline{\nabla u} \cdot \nabla u.$$
(3.10)

Note that, since A is symmetric positive definite and inequality (3.8) holds with tr B = 0, the matrix $(2A + \alpha B)$ is also symmetric positive definite. Then, setting $X := \nabla u$ and $\xi := \overline{\nabla u}$, and fixing a symmetric positive definite matrix A and a real number α , by virtue of (3.10) the function $F_{\xi,A,\alpha}$ defined by

$$F_{\xi,A,\alpha}(X) := \frac{1}{2} \left(2A + \alpha B \right) X \cdot X - \left(A - \alpha A R_{\perp} \right) \xi \cdot X \quad \text{for } X \in \mathbb{R}^2, \tag{3.11}$$

provides the representation

$$b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) = F_{\overline{\nabla u}, A, \alpha}(\nabla u) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{T}^2. \tag{3.12}$$

On the other hand, again using that $(2A + \alpha B)$ is symmetric positive definite, the function $F_{\xi,A,\alpha}$ satisfies

$$\min_{X \in \mathbb{R}^2} F_{\xi, A, \alpha}(X) = F_{\xi, A, \alpha}(X_{\xi, A, \alpha}) = -\frac{1}{2} (2A + \alpha B)^{-1} \eta \cdot \eta \le 0,$$
where $X_{\xi, A, \alpha} := (2A + \alpha B)^{-1} \eta$ and $\eta := (A - \alpha A R_{\perp}) \xi$,
$$(3.13)$$

which implies the equivalences

$$F_{\xi,A,\alpha} \ge 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^2 \iff \eta = 0_{\mathbb{R}^2} \iff (A - \alpha A R_\perp) \xi = 0_{\mathbb{R}^2} \iff \xi = 0_{\mathbb{R}^2}.$$
 (3.14)

The last equivalence of (3.14) is an immediate consequence of

$$\det(A - \alpha A R_{\perp}) = (1 + \alpha^2) \det A > 0. \tag{3.15}$$

Then, we have the following alternative:

• Assume that $\overline{\nabla u} = 0_{\mathbb{R}^2}$. By (3.12) and (3.13) we get the inequalities

$$\begin{cases}
b \cdot \nabla u \ge 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{T}^2, \\
b \cdot \nabla u > 0 & \text{if } \nabla u \ne 0_{\mathbb{R}^2}.
\end{cases}$$
(3.16)

Hence, it follows that if the function u is not a constant and condition (3.8) holds true, the vector field b defined by (3.9) satisfies the non-negativity condition (3.1). Therefore, the flow (1.1) associated with b is singular in the sense of Theorem 3.1.

• Assume that $\xi := \overline{\nabla u} \neq 0_{\mathbb{R}^2}$.

Let $K_{\xi,A,\alpha}$ be the subset of \mathbb{R}^2 defined by (recall (3.13))

$$K_{\xi,A,\alpha} := \left\{ X \in \mathbb{R}^2 : F_{\xi,A,\alpha}(X) \le 0 \right\}$$

= $\left\{ X \in \mathbb{R}^2 : (2A + \alpha B) X \cdot X - 2 \eta \cdot X \le 0 \right\}.$ (3.17)

Since the matrix $(2A + \alpha B)$ is symmetric positive definite, $K_{\xi,A,\alpha}$ is a convex compact set of \mathbb{R}^2 , which due to (3.14) has a non-empty interior $\mathring{K}_{\xi,A,\alpha}$. Also note that the boundary $\partial K_{\xi,A,\alpha}$ is the ellipse of equation

$$(2A + \alpha B)(X - \lambda) \cdot (X - \lambda) = (2A + \alpha B)\lambda \cdot \lambda,$$

centered on the point

$$\lambda := (2A + \alpha B)^{-1} \eta = (2A + \alpha B)^{-1} (A - \alpha A R_{\perp}) \xi \neq 0_{\mathbb{R}^2} \text{ by } (3.15),$$

and passing through $0_{\mathbb{R}^2}$. Then, collecting (3.12), (3.13) and (3.17) we get that

$$\begin{cases}
b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) \ge 0 & \text{if } \nabla u \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \mathring{K}_{\overline{\nabla u}, A, \alpha}, \\
b \cdot (\nabla u - \overline{\nabla u}) > 0 & \text{if } \nabla u \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus K_{\overline{\nabla u}, A, \alpha} \ne \emptyset,
\end{cases}$$
(3.18)

Hence, under assumption (3.8) and

$$\begin{cases} \forall x \in \mathbb{T}^2, \quad \nabla u(x) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \mathring{K}_{\overline{\nabla u}, A(x), \alpha(x)} \\ \exists x \in \mathbb{T}^2, \quad \nabla u(x) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus K_{\overline{\nabla u}, A(x), \alpha(x)}, \end{cases}$$

it follows from (3.18) that the vector field b defined by (3.9) satisfies the non-negativity condition (3.1). Therefore, the flow (1.1) associated with b is singular in the sense of Theorem 3.1.

References

- [1] V.I. Arnold: "Sur la topologie des écoulements stationnaires des fluides parfait" (French), C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, **261** (1965), 17-20. Vladimir I. Arnold Collected Works Vol. II. Hydrodynamics, Bifurcation Theory, and Algebraic Geometry 1965-1972, 14-18. Ed. by A.B. Givental, B.A. Khesin, A.N. Varchenko, V.A. Vassiliev, O.Ya. Viro, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2014, 465 pp.
- [2] M. Briane: "Around the asymptotic properties of a two-dimensional parametrized Euler flow", Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 44, (7) (2024), 1864-1877.
- [3] M. Briane & L. Hervé: "A picture of the ODE's flow in the torus: from everywhere or almost-everywhere asymptotics to homogenization of transport equations", *J. Diff. Equa.*, **304** (2021), 165-190.

- [4] M. BRIANE & L. HERVÉ: "Asymptotics of ODE's flow on the torus through a singleton condition and a perturbation result. Applications", *Dis. Con. Dyn. Sys.*, **42** (7) (2022), 3431-3463.
- [5] M. BRIANE & L. HERVÉ: "Specific properties of the ODE's flow in dimension two versus dimension three", J. Dyn. Diff. Equa., 36 (2024), 421-461.
- [6] M. Briane, G. W. Milton and A. Treibergs, "Which electric fields are realizable in conducting materials?", ESAIM: Math. Model. Numer. Anal., 48 (2014), 307-323.
- [7] A. CONSTANTIN & P. GERMAIN: "Stratospheric planetary flows from the perspective of the Euler equation on a rotating sphere", Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 245 (2022), 587-644.
- [8] I.P. CORNFELD, S.V. FOMIN & YA.G. SINAĬ: *Ergodic Theory*, translated from the Russian by A.B. Sosinskii, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences] **245**, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1982, 486 pp.
- [9] J. FRANKS & M. MISIUREWICZ: "Rotation sets of toral flows", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 109 (1) (1990), 243-249.
- [10] V. GIRAULT & P.A. RAVIART: Finite element methods for Navier-Stokes equations. Theory and algorithms., Chapter I, Mathematical Foundation of the Stokes Problem, pp. 1-111, Springer Series in Computational Mathematics 5, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986, 374 pp.
- [11] M.R. HERMAN: "Existence et non existence de tores invariants par des difféomorphismes symplectiques" (French), [Existence and nonexistence of tori invariant under symplectic diffeomorphisms], Séminaire sur les Équations aux Dérivées Partielles 1987-1988, XIV, École Polytech. Palaiseau, 1988, 24 pp.
- [12] M.W. HIRSCH, S. SMALE & R.L. DEVANEY: Differential Equations, Dynamical systems, and an Introduction to Chaos, Second edition. Pure and Applied Mathematics 60, Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2004, 417 pp.
- [13] M. MISIUREWICZ & K. ZIEMIAN: "Rotation sets for maps of tori", *J. London Math. Soc.* (2), **40** (3) (1989), 490-506.
- [14] R. Peirone: "Convergence of solutions of linear transport equations", *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, **23** (3) (2003), 919-933.
- [15] W. Stepanoff: "Sur une extension du théorème ergodique", Compositio Math., 3 (1936), 239-253.
- [16] D. WIROSOETISNO & T.G. SHEPHERD: "Nonlinear stability of Euler flows in two-dimensional periodic domains", Geophys. Astrophys. Fluid Dynam., 90 (3-4) (1999), 229-246.
- [17] S.L. Ziglin: "On the absence of a real-analytic first integral for ABC flow when A=B", Chaos, 8 (1) (1998), 272-273.
- [18] S.L. ZIGLIN: "An analytic proof of the nonintegrability of the ABC-flow for A=B=C" (Translated from Russian), Funct. Anal. Appl., 37 (3) (2003), 225-227.